1999

Mosdell v. Mosdell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3 (1996).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue No. 1

Was the trial court required to make findings of fact and conclusions of law when modifying the parties' divorce decree? The interpretation of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is a question of law, and is reviewed for correctness. State v. Cosey, 873 P.2d 1177, 1181 (Utah App. 1994). Requests for findings are not necessary for purposes of review. Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (2000).

Issue No. 2

Did the trial court err by allowing the plaintiff to withdraw admissions made in pretrial discovery and to present evidence regarding those issues at trial? The applicable standard of review is a modified abuse of discretion standard established by Langeland v. Monarch Motors, 952 P.2d 1058 (Utah App. 1998). Defendant raised his objection to admission of testimony on the relevant issues at trial (R. 530-3).

Issue No. 3

Did the trial court properly award the plaintiff one-half of the additional retirement disbursement received by defendant? The standard of review for to overturn a trial court's modification of a decree of divorce is a showing that "the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings or that the trial court has abused its discretion."

Thompson v. Thompson, 709 P.2d 360, 362 (Utah 1985).

Issue No. 4

Did the trial court properly award \$6,000 to plaintiff as alimony due to defendant's receipt of disability income? The standard of review for to overturn a trial court's modification of a decree of divorce is a showing that "the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings or that the trial court has abused its discretion." Thompson v. Thompson, 709 P.2d 360, 362 (Utah 1985).

Issue No. 5

Did the trial court properly refuse to modify defendant's alimony obligation? The standard of review for to overturn a trial court's modification of a decree of divorce is a showing that "the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings or that the trial court has abused its discretion." Thompson v. Thompson, 709 P.2d 360, 362 (Utah 1985).

Issue No. 6

Did the trial court properly grant the "Protective Order" without allowing the defendant an opportunity to respond the underlying motion? The question of whether the court erred in granting the motion without an opportunity to respond is governed by Rule 4-501 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration and is therefore a matter of statutory construction which is reviewed for correctness. State v. Petersen, 810 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah 1991). Defendant has never waived any objection to the issuance of the protective order, and was never given an opportunity to object before the motion was granted.

Issue No. 7

Did the trial court properly deny defendant's motion for summary judgment? The grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment is reviewed for correctness.

Thompson v. Jess, 979 P.2d 322, 325 (Utah 1999).

Issue No. 8

Did the trial court properly award attorneys fees to the plaintiff? The decision to award attorney fees and the amount of such fees are within the trial court's sound discretion. Crouse v. Crouse, 817 P.2d 836, 839 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

DETERMINATIVE RULES

Rule 9. Pleading special matters.

(a)(1) Capacity. It is not necessary to aver the capacity of a party to sue or be sued or the authority of a party to sue or be sued in a representative capacity or the legal existence of an organized association of persons that is made a party. When a party desires to raise an issue as to the legal existence of any party or the capacity of any party to sue or be sued or the authority of a party to sue or be sued in a representative capacity, he shall do so by specific negative averment, which shall include such supporting particulars as are peculiarly within the pleader's knowledge, and on such issue the party relying on such capacity, authority, or legal existence, shall establish the same on the trial.

(2) Designation of unknown defendant. When a party does not know the name of an adverse party, he may state that fact in the pleadings, and thereupon such adverse party may be designated in any pleading or proceeding by any name, provided, that when the true name of such adverse party is ascertained, the pleading or proceeding must be amended accordingly.

(3) Actions to quiet title; description of interest of unknown parties. In an action to quiet title wherein any of the parties are designated in the caption as "unknown," the pleadings may describe such unknown persons as "all other persons unknown, claiming any right, title, estate or interest in, or lien upon the real property described in the pleading adverse to the complainant's ownership, or clouding his title thereto."

(b) Fraud, mistake, condition of the mind. In all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity. Malice, intent, knowledge, and other condition of mind of a person may be averred generally.

(c) Conditions precedent. In pleading the performance or occurrence of conditions precedent, it is sufficient to aver generally that all conditions precedent have been performed or have occurred. A denial of performance or occurrence shall be made specifically and with particularity, and when so made the party pleading the performance or occurrence shall on the trial establish the facts showing such performance or occurrence.

(d) Official document or act. In pleading an official document or act it is sufficient to aver that the document was issued or the act done in compliance with law.

(e) Judgment. In pleading a judgment or decision of a domestic or foreign court, judicial or quasi-judicial tribunal, or of a board or officer, it is sufficient to aver the judgment or decision without setting forth matter showing jurisdiction to render it. A denial of jurisdiction shall be made specifically and with particularity and when so made the party pleading the judgment or decision shall establish on the trial all controverted jurisdictional facts.

(f) Time and place. For the purpose of testing the sufficiency of a pleading, averments of time and place are material and shall be considered like all other averments of material matter.

(g) Special damage. When items of special damage are claimed, they shall be specifically stated.

(h) Statute of limitations. In pleading the statute of limitations it is not necessary to state the facts showing the defense but it may be alleged generally that the cause of action is barred by the provisions of the statute relied on, referring to or describing such statute specifically and definitely by section number, subsection designation, if any, or otherwise designating the provision relied upon sufficiently clearly to identify it. If such allegation is controverted, the party pleading the statute must establish, on the trial, the facts showing that the cause of action is so barred.

(i) Private statutes; ordinances. In pleading a private statute of this state, or an ordinance of any political subdivision thereof, or a right derived from such statute or ordinance, it is sufficient to refer to such statute or ordinance by its title and the day of its passage or by its section number or other designation in any official publication of the statutes or ordinances. The court shall thereupon take judicial notice thereof.

(j) Libel and slander.

(1) Pleading defamatory matter. It is not necessary in an action for libel or slander to set forth any intrinsic facts showing the application to the plaintiff of the defamatory matter out of which the action arose; but it is sufficient to state generally that the same was published or spoken concerning the plaintiff. If such allegation is controverted, the party alleging such defamatory matter must establish, on the trial, that it was so published or spoken.

(2) Pleading defense. In his answer to an action for libel or slander, the defendant may allege both the truth of the matter charged as defamatory and any mitigating circumstances to reduce the amount of damages, and, whether he proves the justification or not, he may give in evidence the mitigating circumstances.

Rule 36. Request for admission.

(a) Request for admission.

(1) A party may serve upon any other party a written request for the admission, for purpose of the pending action only, of the truth of any matters within the scope of Rule 26(b) set forth in the request that relate to statements or opinions of fact or of the application of law to fact, including the genuineness of any documents described in the request. The request for admission shall contain a notice advising the party to whom the request is made that, pursuant to Rule 36, the matters shall be deemed admitted unless said request is responded to within 30 days after service of the request or within such shorter or longer time as the court may allow. Copies of documents shall be served with the request unless they have been or are otherwise furnished or made available for inspection and copying. Without leave of court or written stipulation, requests for admission may not be served before the time specified in Rule 26(D).

(2) Each matter of which an admission is requested shall be separately set forth. The matter is admitted unless, within thirty days after service of the request, or within such shorter or longer time as the court may allow, the party to whom the request is directed serves upon the party requesting the admission a written answer or objection addressed to the matter, signed by the party or by his attorney, but, unless the court shortens the time, a defendant shall not be required to serve answers or objections before the expiration of 45 days after service of the summons and complaint upon him. If objection is made, the reasons therefor shall be stated. The answer shall specifically deny the matter or set forth in detail the reasons why the answering party cannot truthfully admit or deny the matter. A denial shall fairly meet the substance of the requested admission, and when good faith requires that a party qualify his answer or deny only a part of the matter of which an admission is requested, he shall specify so much of it as is true and qualify or deny the remainder. An answering party may not give lack of information or knowledge as a reason for failure to admit or deny unless he states that he has made reasonable inquiry and that the information known or readily obtainable by him is insufficient to enable him to admit or deny. A party who considers that a matter of which an admission has been requested presents a genuine issue for trial may not, on that ground alone, object to the request; he may, subject to the provisions of Rule 37 (c), deny the matter or set forth reasons why he cannot admit or deny it.

(3) The party who has requested the admissions may move to determine the sufficiency of the answers or objections. Unless the court determines that an objection is justified, it shall order that an answer be served. If the court determines that an answer does not comply with the requirements of this rule, it may order either that the matter is admitted or that an amended answer be served. The court may, in lieu of these orders, determine that final disposition of the request be made at a pretrial conference or at a designated time prior to trial. The provisions of Rule 37(a)(4) apply to the award of expenses incurred in relation to the motion.

(b) Effect of admission. Any matter admitted under this rule is conclusively established unless the court on motion permits withdrawal or amendment of the

admission. Subject to the provisions of Rule 16 governing amendment of a pretrial order, the court may permit withdrawal or amendment when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the party who obtained the admission fails to satisfy the court that withdrawal or amendment will prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense on the merits. Any admission made by a party under this rule is for the purpose of the pending action only and is not an admission by him for any other purpose nor may it be used against him in any other proceeding.

Rule 52. Findings by the court.

(a) Effect. In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon, and judgment shall be entered pursuant to Rule 58A; in granting or refusing interlocutory injunctions the court shall similarly set forth the findings of fact and conclusions of law which constitute the grounds of its action. Requests for findings are not necessary for purposes of review. Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses. The findings of a master, to the extent that the court adopts them, shall be considered as the findings of the court. It will be sufficient if the findings of fact and conclusions of law are stated orally and recorded in open court following the close of the evidence or appear in an opinion or memorandum of decision filed by the court. The trial court need not enter findings of fact and conclusions of law in rulings on motions, except as provided in Rule 41(b). The court shall, however, issue a brief written statement of the ground for its decision on all motions granted under Rules 12(b), 50(a) and (b), 56, and 59 when the motion is based on more than one ground.

(b) Amendment. Upon motion of a party made not later than 10 days after entry of judgment the court may amend its findings or make additional findings and may amend the judgment accordingly. The motion may be made with a motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 59. When findings of fact are made in actions tried by the court without a jury, the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to support the findings may thereafter be raised whether or not the party raising the question has made in the district court an objection to such findings or has made either a motion to amend them, a motion for judgment, or a motion for a new trial.

(c) Waiver of findings of fact and conclusions of law. Except in actions for divorce, findings of fact and conclusions of law may be waived by the parties to an issue of fact:

- (1) by default or by failing to appear at the trial;
- (2) by consent in writing, filed in the cause;
- (3) by oral consent in open court, entered in the minutes.

Rule 56. Summary judgment.

(a) For claimant. A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor upon all or any part thereof.

(b) For defending party. A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought, may, at any time, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor as to all or any part thereof.

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be filed and served in accordance with CJA 4-501. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

(d) Case not fully adjudicated on motion. If on motion under this rule judgment is not rendered upon the whole case or for all the relief asked and a trial is necessary, the court at the hearing of the motion, by examining the pleadings and the evidence before it and by interrogating counsel, shall if practicable ascertain what material facts exist without substantial controversy and what material facts are actually and in good faith controverted. It shall thereupon make an order specifying the facts that appear without substantial controversy, including the extent to which the amount of damages or other relief is not in controversy, and directing such further proceedings in the action as are just. Upon the trial of the action the facts so specified shall be deemed established, and the trial shall be conducted accordingly.

(e) Form of affidavits; further testimony; defense required. Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits. When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.

(f) When affidavits are unavailable. Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a

continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

(g) Affidavits made in bad faith. Should it appear to the satisfaction of the court at any time that any of the affidavits presented pursuant to this rule are presented in bad faith or solely for the purpose of delay, the court shall forthwith order the party employing them to pay to the other party the amount of the reasonable expenses which the filing of the affidavits caused him to incur, including reasonable attorney's fees, and any offending party or attorney may be adjudged guilty of contempt.

Rule 4-501. Motions.

(1) Filing and service of motions and memoranda.

(A) Motion and supporting memoranda. All motions, except uncontested or ex-parte matters, shall be accompanied by a memorandum of points and authorities appropriate affidavits, and copies of or citations by page number to relevant portions of depositions, exhibits or other documents relied upon in support of the motion. Memoranda supporting or opposing a motion shall not exceed ten pages in length exclusive of the "statement of material facts" as provided in paragraph (2), except as waived by order of the court on ex-parte application. If an ex-parte application is made to file an over-length memorandum, the application shall state the length of the principal memorandum, and if the memorandum is in excess of ten pages, the application shall include a summary of the memorandum, not to exceed five pages.

(B) Memorandum in opposition to motion. The responding party shall file and serve upon all parties within ten days after service of a motion, a memorandum in opposition to the motion, and all supporting documentation. If the responding party fails to file a memorandum in opposition to the motion within ten days after service of the motion, the moving party may notify the clerk to submit the matter to the court for decision as provided in paragraph (1)(D) of this rule.

(C) Reply memorandum. The moving party may serve and file a reply memorandum within five days after service of the responding party's memorandum.

(D) Notice to submit for decision. Upon the expiration of the five-day period to file a reply memorandum, either party may notify the clerk to submit the matter to the court for decision. The notification shall be in the form of a separate written pleading and captioned "Notice to Submit for Decision." The notification shall contain a certificate of mailing to all parties. If neither party files a notice, the motion will not be submitted for decision.

(2) Motions for summary judgment.

(A) Memorandum in support of a motion. The points and authorities in support of a motion for summary judgment shall begin with a section that contains a concise statement of material facts as to which movant contends no genuine issue exists. The facts shall be stated in separate numbered sentences and shall specifically refer to those portions of the record upon which the movant relies.

(B) Memorandum in opposition to a motion. The points and authorities in

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