1999

Mosdell v. Mosdell : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court entered sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law in its order modifying the parties divorce decree with respect to the issues of defendant's disability income and additional retirement disbursements. It found that a substantial change in circumstances had occurred in the reported financial circumstances of the parties, and that the former decree of divorce was based on misrepresentations by the defendant. It concluded that plaintiff was, therefore, entitled to \$6,000 additional alimony half of defendant's retirement program. Hence, remand is not necessary on these issues.

The trial court did not enter specific findings of fact concerning its decisions to accept plaintiff's answers to defendant's first discovery request, its refusal to modify defendant's alimony obligation, and its award of attorney fees to plaintiff. Therefore, plaintiff does not object to remand on these issues.

However, plaintiff maintains that the record provides ample evidence supporting the trial court's decisions with respect to all contested issues, and remand will not alter the outcome in the case. Thus, plaintiff requests, in the interest of judicial economy, that

this Court exercise its power to weigh the evidence in the record and substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court. Due regard should be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses.

Defendant contends that because plaintiff did not respond to discovery requests within thirty days after service, the requests for admission were deemed admitted. However, plaintiff maintains there was a verbal agreement between party attorneys that answers to discovery requests were not due until such time as settlement negotiations broke down. Because the answers to the discovery requests were served timely when it was determined settlement was not possible, they were never deemed admitted. Therefore, the trial court did not allow plaintiff to withdraw her answers to discovery requests, it simply validated the verbal agreement between party attorneys and accepted her answers accordingly.

The trial court appropriately awarded plaintiff one-half of defendant's previously undisclosed retirement account. It found that defendant's misrepresentations amounted to a substantial change in circumstances, and fraud was adequately plead and proven.

The trial court appropriately awarded plaintiff an additional \$6,000 in alimony due to defendant's receipt of disability income. Again, it found that defendant had misrepresented the possibility of receiving future disability income. This established a substantial change in circumstances and provided a compelling reason to modify the original decree.

The trial court properly refused to alter defendant's alimony obligation. Defendant failed to prove plaintiff did not have need of the amount of alimony she was receiving, that she was able to support herself, and that he did not have the ability to provide support.

The trial court's grant of a protective order to the Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing did not affect the outcome in this case. The evidence defendant sought from the Division could only have possibly helped him establish the threshold issue of a substantial change in circumstances. However, defendant was also required to prove plaintiff's lack of a need for support, her ability to support herself, or his inability to pay. He failed to do so. Therefore, the trial court would have still refused to alter his alimony obligation, and the grant of the protective order is a non-issue.

Defendant's motion for partial summary judgment was never submitted for decision, nor is there any evidence it was ever denied. Therefore, defendant's motion for partial summary judgment is a non-issue because this Court is not in a position to review a decision that was never made.

And, finally, the trial court acted properly when awarding attorney fees to plaintiff. Its decision was based upon evidence in the record that plaintiff had a financial need for attorney fees, that defendant had the ability to pay, and that the requested award was reasonable.

ARGUMENT

I. A. The trial court entered sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect to the issues of the retirement account and disability income.

Rule 52(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that “[i]n all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon. . . . It will be sufficient if the findings of fact and conclusions of law are stated orally and recorded in open court following the close of the evidence or appear in an opinion or memorandum of decision filed by the court.” Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a). No oral findings of fact and conclusions of law were recorded at the close of this bench trial.

A. Although not specifically entitled as such, the trial court’s order modifying the parties’ decree of divorce includes findings of fact and conclusions of law.

Although the trial court did not precisely entitle any portions of its written order to read “Findings of Fact” and/or “Conclusions of Law,” both were indeed included. In its order to modify the decree of divorce, the trial court “found” that a substantial change in circumstances had occurred in the reported financial circumstances of the parties, and that the former decree of divorce was based on misrepresentations made by the defendant. (R. 486-8.) Specifically, the court indicated that the misrepresentations referred to included defendant’s previously undisclosed disability income and unreported disbursements into his retirement account. (R. 486.) These could certainly be construed as the trial courts “findings of fact.”

The court then separately “concluded,” among other things, that due to defendant’s misrepresentations concerning his disability income and retirement account, the plaintiff should be awarded \$6,000 above the original alimony award, half of defendant’s retirement program. (R. 486-7.) Again, although not precisely entitled as such, it is not a stretch for this Court to construe these as the trial court’s “conclusions of law,” thus fulfilling the requirements of Rule 52(a).

B. Due regard should be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses.

Rule 52(a) also provides that “[f]indings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses.” Utah R. Civ. P. Rule 52(a). In Wilson v. Wilson, the Supreme Court of Utah concluded that “[t]he trial judge has considerable latitude of discretion in [equitable divorce proceedings] and ... his judgment should not be changed lightly, and in fact, not at all, unless it works such a manifest injustice or inequity as to indicate a clear abuse of discretion.” 296 P.2d 977, 981 (Utah 1956).

In the this case, no such clear abuse of discretion is present. The record provides ample testimony validating the court’s finding that defendant misrepresented his financial situation during the settlement negotiations which led up to the couple’s original stipulation.

The trial court was presented with testimony that defendant was told he was being

relied upon to tell the truth about the couple's financial situation. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 17:17-19, 19:11-23, 20:1-12, 29:13-20, 30:5-11 (Jan. 14, 1999). The record manifests that defendant made representations that his application for disability income had been denied, and that there was no possibility he would receive disability income in the future. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 14:24-25, 15:1-10. Furthermore, the record contains testimony to establish that defendant misrepresented the possibility of future funds being disbursed into his retirement account. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 19:1-3, 81:18-23.

Although the record contains testimony to the contrary, due regard must be given to the trial court's ability to judge the credibility of the witnesses. In Minger v. Mineer, the Supreme Court of Utah stated, "...we accord considerable deference to the judgment of the trial court and interpose our own judgment only where the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary or the trial court abuses its discretion or misapplies principles of law." 706 P.2d 1060, 1062 (Utah 1985).

When, as in this case, it is evident from the record that the trial court had substantial evidence upon which to base its decisions, it is unreasonable to conclude that a manifest injustice or inequity occurred so as to indicate a clear abuse of discretion. As declared in Wilson v. Wilson, the trial court's judgment should not be changed lightly. 296 P.2d 977, 981 (Utah 1956). And, whereas adequate findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered concerning defendant's misrepresentations of his retirement (Issue III) and disability income (Issue IV), these issues do not require remand or a substitute

judgment of this Court.

C. Alternatively, this Court should weigh the evidence and substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court.

Should this Court conclude that the trial court did not enter sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law so as to satisfy Rule 52(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure with respect to the retirement account and disability income issues, it has the power to weigh the evidence and substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court. Wilson v. Wilson, 296 P.2d 977, 981 (Utah 1956). If this occurs, this Court should enter findings supporting the order of the trial court due to the adequacy of the information contained in the record and the ability of this Court to determine upon which facts the trial judge relied in entering his judgment.

In Montoya v. Montoya, the Supreme Court of Utah stated, “[a]lthough this Court has power in an equity case such as this to weigh the evidence and substitute our judgment for that of the trial court, we decline to do so where we have *no means of knowing upon which facts the trial judge relied* in entering his judgment.” 696 P.2d 1193, 1195 (Utah 1985) (emphasis added). The Court also noted that the record was deficient in many critical aspects. Id.

Furthermore, in Parish v. Parish, the Supreme Court of Utah declared its power in equity cases to make findings or direct the trial court to make findings in accordance with the evidence where the record is sufficient. 35 P.2d 999, 1001 (Utah 1934). However, the court found that the evidence nor the nature of the case were such that it should either

make findings or direct what findings should be made. Id. The trial court had entered no finding to support its judgment, and the evidence clearly showed that the trial court's order was erroneous. Id. The case was remanded. Id.

Unlike the case of Montoya v. Montoya, the record in the present case is not deficient in enabling this Court to determine upon which facts the trial court relied in entering its judgment. As referred to above, there is ample evidence in the record to persuade this Court to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law upholding the judgment of the trial court.

Likewise, the present case can be distinguished from Parish v. Parish in that there is no evidence which *clearly* shows the judgment of the trial court to be erroneous. Therefore, should this Court not be persuaded that sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law were included in the trial court's order, it should not require remand. Instead, this Court should substitute its findings in accordance with the evidence contained in the record, again according considerable deference to the judgment of the trial court.

I. B. The record is replete with evidence to support the trial court's decisions regarding its acceptance of plaintiff's answers to defendant's first discovery request, its refusal to modify defendant's alimony obligation, and its award of attorney's fees to plaintiff.

Although plaintiff does not strongly object to this Court's remand of the three above issues (the trial court's acceptance of plaintiff's answers to defendant's first discovery request, its refusal to modify defendant's alimony obligation, and its award of

attorney's fees to plaintiff) for entry of proper findings of fact, she is convinced it will not alter the conclusions in this case. The record has ample supportive evidence to demonstrate upon which facts the trial court relied in entering its conclusions pertaining to these issues.

- A. The record supports the trial court's decisions so as to prevent any abuse of discretion.

To repeat, "[t]he trial judge has considerable latitude of discretion in [equitable divorce proceedings] and ... his judgment should not be changed lightly, and in fact, not at all, unless it works such a manifest injustice or inequity as to indicate a clear abuse of discretion." Wilson v. Wilson, 296 P.2d 977, 981 (Utah 1956). Where, as here, the record contains satisfactory evidence to support the judge's decision, there has plainly been no clear abuse of discretion.

1. Evidence supports the court's acceptance of the plaintiff's answers to defendant's first discovery request.

The record contains the sworn affidavit of plaintiff's former counsel, Bishop, declaring a verbal agreement between he and defendant's counsel, Draper. (R. 414.) The agreement was that during the parties' settlement negotiations, plaintiff was granted an indefinite extension of time to respond to pending matters, including discovery requests. (R. 413-14.)

The record further contains the affidavit of plaintiff's subsequent counsel, Park, who states it had been his understanding that answers to the discovery requests would not

be required until the parties determined that a stipulation for settlement was not possible. (R. 415.) That determination was not made until the responses for discovery requests were filed. (R. 415.) This information was included in plaintiff's memorandum in support of plaintiff's request that the answers to defendant's first discovery request be accepted by the court. (R. 417-19.)

The trial court also considered defendant's objection and memorandum in opposition to plaintiff's request that the answers to defendant's first discovery request be accepted by the court. (R. 420-3.) Based on all of the evidence before it, the court concluded that plaintiff's answers were admitted to the court. (R. 489.)

2. Evidence supports the court's refusal to modify defendant's alimony obligation.

The record contains evidence which demonstrates plaintiff's need for alimony and her inability to support herself. She was attending school full-time, and was not working. (R. 205, 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 40:25, 41:1-3 (Jan. 14, 1999). She was receiving Pell Grants and help from others in order to maintain herself and her two children. (R. 205.) She did not have any assets from which to borrow money to support herself. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 40:9-24. If defendant had paid the alimony of \$1500 per month as required by the divorce decree, plaintiff would not have had need of government or other assistance, and could have properly supported herself and two children living with her. (R. 205.)

Defendant did not show his inability to provide support. Although he claimed in his amended petition to modify the decree of divorce that his gross monthly income was

\$7,000, his financial declaration showed that his gross income was \$11,666.68 per month. (R. 165, 226.) Even after deductions, defendant stated that his monthly is \$7,534.05, and his debts and obligations \$4,700. That leaves a surplus of \$2,834.05. In addition, defendant testified that at the time of trial he was making even more than his financial declaration had stated due to an increase in his practice. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 1-19. Thus, defendant did not present evidence to show that he could not meet the alimony obligation.

3. Evidence supports the court's award of attorney fees to plaintiff.

First, there is evidence which demonstrates plaintiff's financial need for an award of attorney fees. At trial, plaintiff was asked if she had the funds to pay the legal fees she had incurred as a result of these proceedings. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 40:3-7. She answered that she did not. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 40:8. She was not working at all because she was attending school full-time. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 40:25, 41:1-3. She did not have any assets from which to borrow to pay attorney fees. (R. 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 40:9-24.

Second, there is evidence that defendant had the ability to pay attorney fees. His gross income was in excess of \$11,666.68 per month. (R. 226, 521.) Rptr. Tr. P. 97:1-15. He stated in his financial declaration that his debts and obligations totaled \$4,700. (R. 226.)

And third, the requested award is reasonable. Nothing is said in the record or in

any affidavit claiming that the fees requested were unreasonable in amount.

- B. This Court should weigh the evidence and substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court.

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